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Securities and Exchange Commission
15 West South Temple, Suite 1800
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101
Telephone: 801-524-5796
Facsimile: 801-524-5262
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF UTAH, CENTRAL DIVISION

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
PLAINTIFF,
COMPLAINT
v.
THE COMPANIES (TC), LLC, a Utah limited liability
company, KRISTOFFER A. KROHN, an individual,
STEPHEN R. EARL, an individual, and MICHAEL K.
KROHN, an individual,

Civil No. 2:12-cv-00765-DN
Judge David Nuffer

DEFENDANTS.

Plaintiff, Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”), for its
Complaint against Defendants alleges as follows:
INTRODUCTION
1.

This matter involves the fraudulent offer and sale of unregistered securities by
The Companies (TC), LLC (“The Companies”) and its principals, Kristoffer
A. Krohn (“Kris Krohn”), Stephen R. Earl (“Earl”), and former officer,
Michael K. Krohn (“Mike Krohn”).
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2.

The Companies, organized in July 2008, is owned and controlled by Kris
Krohn, its President and Manager, and Earl, its Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”) and Manager. Among other things, the Companies purchases
distressed real estate for investment. Mike Krohn was the Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) for the Companies from February 2009 until June 2011.

3.

To raise money to purchase real estate, The Companies or its subsidiary,
Alpha Real Estate Holdings, L.P. (“Alpha LP”), initiated four unregistered
offerings of securities from January 2009 to June 2011.

4.

Kris Krohn, Earl, and Mike Krohn participated in the offerings by providing
content for and approval of the private placement memoranda (“PPMs”) used
to solicit investors and by directly offering the securities to investors.

5.

The four offerings raised a total of approximately $11.9 million from
approximately 169 investors.

6.

The PPMs contained material misrepresentations and omissions related to,
among other things, the value of properties to be purchased or that were
owned by the Companies or Alpha LP.

7.

The PPMs represented that the current market value of certain properties was
$15 million, but the actual market value was as low as $2.9 million or $12.2
million at most, depending on the valuation used.

8.

The PPMs did not disclose that the $12.2 million value was based on Internetbased valuations that were not supported by documentation, nor did they
disclose that The Companies had also obtained other valuations totaling $2.9
million for the same properties.
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9.

Each of the four offerings relied on the exemption to registration under
Regulation D, Rule 506.

10.

The offerings did not qualify for the Rule 506 exemption because Defendants
solicited investors through general solicitation at meetings that were open to
the public.

11.

By conduct detailed in this Complaint, Defendants violated Sections 5(a), 5(c)
17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15
U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)]. Unless enjoined, Defendants are likely to
commit such violations again.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12.

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction by authority of Sections 20 and 22
of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t and
77v].

13.

Defendants, directly and indirectly, singly and in concert, have made use of
the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails in
connection with the transactions, acts and courses of business alleged herein,
which have occurred within the District of Utah.

14.

Venue for this action is proper in the District of Utah under Section 22(a) of
the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)] because the transactions, acts,
practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint took place in this
district and because the defendants reside in and transact business in this
district.
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DEFENDANTS
15.

The Companies (TC), LLC (“The Companies”) is a Utah limited liability
company, organized on July 25, 2008, with its principal place of business in
Orem, Utah. The Companies operates through various affiliates and
subsidiaries, including a real estate investment education club, a real estate
brokerage, a mortgage brokerage, a property management firm, an insurance
and financial education firm and partially-owned subsidiaries that acquire,
manage and sell bank-owned and other distressed properties. In January
2009, December 2009, and June 2011, The Companies made offerings of
membership interests, relying on the exemption from registration promulgated
under Regulation D, Rule 506, of the Securities Act.

16.

Kristoffer A. Krohn (“Kris Krohn”), age 32, and a resident of Orem, Utah, is
a Manager, President, and majority shareholder of The Companies. Kris
Krohn is a founding member of The Companies and its related entities. Kris
Krohn participated in producing The Companies’ and Alpha LP’s PPMs and
solicited investors.

17.

Stephen R. Earl (“Earl”), age 43, and a resident of Orem, Utah, is a Manager
and CEO of The Companies. Earl is a founding member of The Companies
and some of its related entities. Earl is a licensed real estate broker and
participated in producing The Companies’ and Alpha LP’s PPMs and solicited
investors.

18.

Michael K. Krohn (“Mike Krohn”), age 36, and a resident of Round Rock,
Texas, was the CFO of The Companies from February 2009 until June 2011.
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Mike Krohn is the brother of Kris Krohn and is a CPA licensed in Arizona.
Mike Krohn participated in producing The Companies’ and Alpha LP’s PPMs
and in soliciting investors.
Related Entities
19.

Real Estate Investors Club, L.L.C. (“REIC”), is a Utah limited liability
company, organized on October 26, 2007, with its principal place of business
in Orem, Utah. REIC solicits the public to purchase memberships in REIC in
order to learn how to invest in residential real estate. REIC is a whollyowned subsidiary of The Companies and is controlled by Kris Krohn and Earl.

20.

Alpha Real Estate Holdings, L.P. (“Alpha LP”) is a Delaware limited
partnership formed March 26, 2009, with its principal place of business in
Orem, Utah. Alpha LP was formed for the purpose of purchasing distressed
properties for investment. In April 2009, Alpha LP made an offering of
limited partnership interests, relying on the exemption from registration
promulgated under Regulation D, Rule 506, of the Securities Act. Alpha LP
is controlled by Kris Krohn and Earl.

21.

Alpha Holding Companies, LLC (“Alpha LLC”) is a Utah limited liability
company formed March 26, 2009, with its principal place of business in
Orem, Utah. Alpha LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Companies and
is the general partner and 51% owner of Alpha LP. Alpha LLC is controlled
by Kris Krohn and Earl.
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FACTS
Background
22.

Beginning around 2006, Kris Krohn became involved in purchasing and
selling homes for investment and profit.

23.

Earl had separately been involved in purchasing and selling real estate and
held a real estate license. Earl met Kris Krohn through his real estate business
and began to help Kris Krohn find and purchase properties.

24.

In October 2007, Kris Krohn founded REIC as a business to teach others how
to purchase single family homes for income and investment purposes.

25.

REIC requires interested individuals to pay a membership fee (currently about
$8,000), which entitles members to instruction and assistance in locating and
purchasing properties, preparing the properties for rent, renting out the
properties for cash flow, and later selling the properties at a profit.

26.

Earl, as a real estate broker, assisted REIC members in finding homes to
purchase.

27.

In early 2008, Kris Krohn and Earl started a real estate brokerage firm
together. They formed The Real Estate Firm, L.L.C. (“TREF”), a Utah
limited liability company.

28.

Initially, Earl was not involved with REIC, but he worked with REIC
members through TREF, assisting members with real estate purchases.

29.

As time went on, Earl contemplated getting involved with REIC and other
related businesses in a full partnership with Kris Krohn.
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Earl and Kris Krohn Form The Companies (TC), LLC
30.

On July 25, 2008, Kris Krohn and Earl formed The Companies to be a holding
company that would ultimately become the umbrella over various business
enterprises, including REIC, TREF, a mortgage company, a property
management company, and others.

31.

REIC is and has been The Companies’ flagship entity.

32.

The Companies’ various subsidiaries assist REIC members with brokering
purchases, obtaining financing, locating tenants, and managing properties.
Each of the entities is a profit center and generates fees as various transactions
in this process are completed.

33.

As the holding company over all the entities, The Companies earns revenues
from each of them.

34.

As of November 2011, The Companies had been operating at a net loss.
According to an unaudited consolidated profit and loss statement, The
Companies lost $1,773,472 in 2009 and $1,129,810 in 2010.

35.

The amount of The Companies’ total loss cannot be confirmed because the
Companies does not and has not maintained audited financial statements for
itself or any of its entities.

36.

Although Kris Krohn and Earl have shared in management and decisions, Kris
Krohn has final decision-making authority, because he is the founder of REIC
and majority shareholder of The Companies.
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Kris Krohn Purchases REOs (Bulk Properties)
37.

After starting TREF with Earl, Kris Krohn continued to be separately involved
with other partners in real estate investment.

38.

In early 2008, Kris Krohn and his partners believed they could purchase
properties in bulk (real estate owned properties or “REOs”) and re-sell them to
other real estate investors for a profit.

39.

REOs consist of portfolios of homes that have been foreclosed upon and
packaged together to be re-sold by a bank or lending institution. Banks pool
homes together as REO packages and make them available as-is for purchase
as one unit. REO homes are generally considered distressed properties and
are often in depressed markets, in disrepair, or have other problems, such as
liens or back-taxes owing on them.

40.

Kris Krohn and his partners, through two separate entities, purchased two
REO packages of homes in the Midwest for approximately $2.3 million.

41.

After purchasing the properties, Kris Krohn and his partners attempted to sell
the properties for $2.8 to $2.9 million but were unsuccessful.
The Companies Forms Alpha LP and Alpha LLC

42.

Because Kris Krohn and Earl were working together with TREF, Earl was
aware that Kris Krohn had purchased the REOs and had been unable to re-sell
them.

43.

Earl began to consider a long-term strategy of purchasing REOs, then
donating or selling off the homes that were in complete disrepair, repairing
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those homes that were worth repairing, renting the repaired homes for a steady
cash flow, and later selling the homes at a profit when the homes appreciated
in market value.
44.

By late 2008, Kris Krohn and Earl had decided that The Companies should
purchase REOs and incorporate Earl’s long-term strategy into its business.

45.

Kris Krohn proposed selling his entities’ REOs to The Companies.

46.

In March 2009, Kris Krohn and Earl formed Alpha LLC and Alpha LP to
purchase and own REOs. Alpha LLC is the general partner of Alpha LP and
owns 51% of its ownership interest. Alpha LLC is a fully-owned subsidiary
of The Companies.

47.

By March 2009, Mike Krohn had become CFO of The Companies and was in
charge of maintaining The Companies’ accounting records and preparing
accounting and financial reports for use and review by Kris Krohn and Earl.

48.

Kris Krohn and Earl reviewed accounting and financial records and reports
with Mike Krohn on a regular basis. These records and reports included
financial statements, property transactions, and valuations of properties.
Valuation of Kris Krohn’s Entities’ REO Properties

49.

In April 2009, The Companies obtained valuations of the individual properties
in Kris Krohn’s entities’ REOs. To obtain these valuations, The Companies
hired Capstone Asset Solutions (“Capstone”), a third party real estate
evaluation company.

50.

Capstone, through its affiliated national real estate brokerage, hired real estate
agents in the local market to inspect and evaluate each property and provide a
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“broker price opinion” or “BPO,” which was the agent’s best estimate of the
price at which a specific property could realistically be sold within 30 to 90
days, based on the condition of the property and the local real estate market.
51.

According to Capstone’s BPOs, at or around April 14, 2009, the total BPO
value for all the Kris Krohn REO properties came to a total of $2,861,997.

52.

The Companies contends that it also obtained property valuations in April
2009 from RealQuest, an Internet search engine for real property data and
analytics.

53.

For a fee, RealQuest permits the user to obtain a valuation of a specific
property based on the property address. Users of RealQuest’s services can
enter the address of the property into the website, and a value will be
calculated and displayed. The valuation is calculated, using public
information, among other things, and proprietary analysis software. Public
information may include the last sale price of the home and comparable sale
prices of homes in the vicinity. Valuations are not available for all homes,
such as when public information is not available or when there have been no
recent sales in the area.

54.

RealQuest makes no physical inspection of the property, thus RealQuest
valuations do not consider condition of the property, including damage,
neglect, or disrepair. The RealQuest software may not consider the number of
homes for sale in the neighborhood and other local conditions. Furthermore,
the RealQuest valuations do not consider liens, back-taxes, or other
encumbrances.
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55.

Defendants knew or should have known of the limitations of RealQuest
valuations.

56.

Defendants believed that BPO values are a more accurate reflection of current
market value than RealQuest valuations.

57.

The Companies assert that April 2009 RealQuest valuations for the Kris
Krohn properties totaled $12,272,986, approximately $9.4 million more than
the total of the BPO values.
Sale of REOs from Kris Krohn’s Entities to Alpha LP

58.

As Kris Krohn’s entities were in the process of evaluating and obtaining
market values for their REO properties, the entities were also inspecting the
REO properties they had purchased, changing titles, performing repairs and
maintenance on the properties, and attempting to sell properties, both in bulk
and individually.

59.

By mid-2009, Defendants had determined that many of the REO properties
were in partial or substantial disrepair and had been vacant and neglected for
some time. Many of the REO properties had significant liens or other
encumbrances that exceeded the value of the properties, thereby giving the
properties negative equity.

60.

Defendants knew or should have known of the condition of the properties and
the encumbrances attached to them by mid-2009 or earlier.

61.

In August 2009, Alpha LP purchased the REOs from Kris Krohn’s entities.
Alpha LP paid approximately $2.9 million (the same amount at which the
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BPOs valued the properties) for the two REOs and received 167 individual
properties.
62.

Since August 2009, Alpha LP and The Companies have sold many of the
properties at a loss, they have purchased other properties, and they have
repaired and rented properties.

63.

By December 2009, Alpha LP had sold at least 31 of the properties it
purchased from Kris Krohn’s entities. Those properties were purportedly
valued at $2,150,221 by RealQuest and were sold for a total price of $80,423,
which amounts to just 3.7% of the purported RealQuest value of those
properties.

64.

In its accounting records, Alpha LP valued its properties at purchase price
(less depreciation). Based on these “book values,” Alpha LP had a total net
loss of $363,137 on the disposal of properties sold by December 2009. These
were the same properties that had a purported RealQuest value of $2,150,221.

65.

As properties were sold, Defendants knew or should have known of the
condition of the properties, and the prices at which homes sold and their
corresponding losses in Alpha LP’s accounting records.

66.

As of December 31, 2010, Alpha LP had approximately 110 properties
remaining on its books. RealQuest valuations for Alpha LP’s
properties at the time totaled less than $4.6 million, meaning The
Companies’ 51% share would have been under $2.3 million, if based
on RealQuest valuations. Defendants knew or should have known of
these RealQuest valuations by that time.
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The Companies and Alpha LP Private Offerings
67.

In order to raise money for the purchase of REOs, The Companies and Alpha
LP initiated four private offerings, pursuant to private placement memoranda,
relying on the exemption to registration under Regulation D, Rule 506.

68.

Earl and Kris Krohn participated in drafting and/or providing content for each
PPM, and Earl and Kris Krohn reviewed and approved the contents of the four
PPMs.

69.

Mike Krohn provided content, including accounting and financial information
and property values, for the offerings by Alpha LP in April 2009 and by The
Companies in December 2009 and June 2011.

70.

The Companies’ and Alpha LP’s offerings were offered and sold to REIC
members at weekly meetings, which discussed the securities offered and the
PPMs.

71.

The Companies also solicited investors at its annual “Wealth Summit”
seminars, held in May 2010 and June 2011.

72.

Defendants invited Wealth Summit attendees to learn more about the stock
through additional meetings and the PPMs. If people were interested, they
were given a PPM for the particular offering.

73.

Kris Krohn, Earl, and Mike Krohn all solicited investors by drafting and
providing content for the PPMs, presenting the investment opportunity at
meetings and seminars, and/or by answering questions and talking to investors
about the investment and the PPMs.
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Misrepresentations and Omissions in the PPMs
The Companies January 2009 Private Placement
74.

The Companies’ first PPM was dated January 13, 2009 and offered up to $2
million in ownership interest in The Companies.

75.

The PPM described the business strategy of purchasing REOs. Investors in
The Companies would be partial owners of the REOs eventually purchased by
The Companies and were to share in future profits of the various subsidiaries
of The Companies.

76.

The offering raised approximately $1.8 million.

77.

The PPM contained a “Supplemental Asset Listing,” showing an estimated
value of The Companies’ various holdings, which at the time included: REIC,
TREF, The Property Management Company (“TPMC”), and Strategic
Lending. The total estimated value of The Companies was stated to be $1
million.

78.

The PPM also represented that there was an “Anticipated Asset Gain to the
Company based on existing REO Purchase Agreements (using money from
this offering)” of $15 million. This representation is false and misleading
because The Companies had no purchase agreements in place and no specific
purchase agreements were being contemplated at that time. The
misrepresentation is material.

79.

Furthermore, The Companies had no basis for the value of the anticipated
asset gain of $15 million. This number was merely an estimate and was not
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based on any specific properties or appraisals. These material disclosures
were omitted from the PPM.
Alpha LP April 2009 Private Placement
80.

The Alpha PPM was dated April 16, 2009 and offered up to $4.9 million in
interests.

81.

The offering raised approximately $4.7 million from investors.

82.

The PPM disclosed that Alpha LP contemplated using the proceeds of the
offering to purchase bulk REOs, either from Kris Krohn’s entities or other
parties.

83.

The PPM represented that Kris Krohn’s entities owned approximately 200
properties combined, and that the purchase price would be approximately $2.3
million.

84.

By the date of the PPM, The Companies had already obtained the BPOs for
these properties, but the PPM did not disclose or discuss the BPOs.

85.

The PPM failed to disclose that Defendants already knew that Kris Krohn’s
REO properties had substantial problems and encumbrances, that BPOs
indicated the market value of the properties was $2.9 million, and that Kris
Krohn’s entities had been trying and had been unable to sell these particular
REOs at a price of $2.9 million or less, the same price that Alpha LP
eventually paid for the properties. These were material omissions in the PPM.
The Companies December 2009 Private Placement

86.

The Companies’ December 1, 2009 PPM offered up to $3.9 million in
membership interests in The Companies.
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87.

The offering raised approximately $3.8 million.

88.

Among other things, the PPM stated: “As of October 31, 2009, the Company
believes that the real estate owned by [Alpha LP] would be valued at
approximately $15 million, with its 51% share approximately equal to $7.5
million. The Company has estimated the value of these properties based on
appraisals of similarly situated properties. However, the value of such
properties provided by a professional appraiser could vary from those
estimated by the Company.”

89.

The representation that properties were worth $15 million is false and
misleading because there is no evidentiary basis for the stated $15 million
value. The Companies did not receive appraisals for similarly situated
properties. Rather, The Companies based the $15 million value on purported
RealQuest valuations, but the purported RealQuest valuations cannot be
corroborated by valid evidence. The purported RealQuest valuations were not
a fair representation of the market value of the properties and were highly
inflated, as evidenced by the prices at which homes actually sold. These
misrepresentations and omissions were material.

90.

The PPMs did not disclose the significant limitations to RealQuest valuations
in determining current market value. This was a material omission in the
PPM.

91.

The PPM did not disclose that The Companies had obtained BPOs, which
indicated total market value of the properties was $2,861,997. The PPM did
not disclose that BPOs are a more accurate gauge of current market value.
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The PPM did not disclose that actual prices of properties already sold were
around or below the BPO values. These were material omissions.
The Companies June 2011 Private Placement
92.

The Companies’ June 1, 2011 PPM offered up to $4.7 million in membership
interests in The Companies.

93.

As of November 2011, the PPM had raised approximately $1.6 million. This
offering is currently still open.

94.

The PPM includes unaudited financial statements that purport to represent all
activities of The Companies and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as of
December 31, 2010.

95.

The Companies’ unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheet states that
“Net Real Estate Holdings” equal $7,408,728.82. The Management
Discussion & Analysis of the financial statements states the following:
“Gross real estate holdings is approximately $7.5 Million in terms of
today’s market value (obtained valuation statements as of Jan 2011 per
Real Quest to derive current market value) and book value (purchase
price) is approximately $3.2 million.” This is a material
misrepresentation of market value because it is purportedly based on
RealQuest valuations for Alpha LP’s properties, which totaled less
than $4.6 million at the time. The Companies’ 51% share would have
been under $2.3 million, if based on RealQuest valuations.

96.

The June 2011 PPM failed to disclose the limitations of RealQuest
valuations. By this time, Alpha LP had already sold or transferred a
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number of individual properties at substantial losses, thus
demonstrating that the purported RealQuest values were highly
inflated. Defendants knew or should have known of the losses and the
prices at which homes were actually sold. These were material
omissions in the PPM.
Misrepresentations and Omissions Were Material
97.

The misrepresentations and omissions in the PPMs significantly altered the
total mix of information available to investors and were material to a
reasonable investor because a reasonable investor would consider them
important in making an investment decision.

The Companies and Alpha LP Offerings Were Not Exempt from Registration
98.

None of the offerings by The Companies and Alpha LP were registered with
the Commission.

99.

Defendants relied on the exemption to registration available pursuant to
Regulation D, Rule 506.

100.

The Wealth Summits, at which Defendants solicited investors for The
Companies, were open to the public.

101.

The Wealth Summits were held at a local Marriott hotel ballroom and were
attended by several hundred people.

102.

Most of the Wealth Summit attendees may have been REIC members, but the
REIC members were encouraged to bring guests and family members to the
Wealth Summits.
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103.

The Companies advertised the Wealth Summits through direct e-mail to REIC
members and through its websites.

104.

E-mails sent to REIC members indicated that friends and family were
welcome to the Wealth Summits, and there was nothing in the emails to
indicate that attendance was restricted to REIC members. Emails encouraged
individuals to register and indicate how many others would be attending.
There was no requirement that names of attendees be given, so there was no
way to track whether registrants were REIC members.

105.

Registration was publicized on REIC’s website, where anyone could register.
There was no indication on the website or registration form that attendance
was restricted to REIC members.

106.

There was no announcement or posting at the Wealth Summits restricting
attendance to REIC members. There was no sign-in procedure at the Wealth
Summits, so there was no way to determine who attended and which attendees
were REIC members and which were not.

107.

The offerings do not qualify for the Rule 506 exemption because Defendants
offered the securities through general solicitation.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
FRAUD IN THE OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES
Violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and (17)(a)(3) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)]

108.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations
contained in Paragraphs 1 though 107, above.

109.

Defendants, and each of them, by engaging in the conduct described in
Paragraphs 1 through 107, above, directly and indirectly, in the offer and sale
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of securities, by the use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails, obtained money
or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or by omitting to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and
engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operate or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.
110.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, and each of them, directly or
indirectly, violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to
violate, Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§
77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3)].
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
OFFER AND SALE OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
Violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)]

111.

The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations
contained in Paragraphs 1 though 107, above.

112.

Defendants, and each of them, by engaging in the conduct described in
paragraphs 1 through 107, above, directly or indirectly, through use of the means
or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or the
mails, offered to sell or sold securities, directly or indirectly, or carried such
securities through the mails or in interstate commerce, for the purpose of sale or
delivery after sale.

113.

No registration statement has been filed with the Commission or has been in
effect with respect to these securities.
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114.

The securities were not eligible for exemption from registration pursuant to
Regulation D, Rule 506 because the offering did not meet all the requirements
of the exemption because the securities were offered for sale through general
solicitation.

115.

The securities were not eligible for any other exemption from registration
under the federal securities laws.

116.

By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, directly or indirectly violated, and
unless enjoined will continue to violate Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities
Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)].
RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court:
I.
Issue findings of fact and conclusions of law that Defendants committed the
violations charged herein.
II.
Issue in a form consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
orders that preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants and their officers, agents,
servants, employees, attorneys, and accountants, and those persons in active concert or
participation with any of them, who receive actual notice of the order by personal service
or otherwise, and each of them, from engaging in transactions, acts, practices, and
courses of business described herein, and from engaging in conduct of similar purport
and object in violation of Sections 5(a), 5(c), 17(a)(2), and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act.
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III.
Enter an order directing Defendants, and each of them, to pay civil money
penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act.
IV.
Grant such further equitable relief as this Court deems just, appropriate and
necessary.
V.
Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity and
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the terms of all
orders and decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion
for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.
Dated the 6th day of August 2012.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Daniel J. Wadley
Daniel J. Wadley
Thomas M. Melton
Cheryl M. Mori
Attorneys for Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission

22

Case 2:12-cv-00765-DN Document 2-1 Filed 08/06/12 Page 1 of 1

